
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub Committee

Enquiries to: Shahada Shahid
Telephone: 01706 924713
Date: Friday 19th August 2016

Dear Councillor

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Tuesday, 30th August 2016 
commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

Members are advised that site visits will be held as follows:

 15:30 Meet staff entrance Number One Riverside
 15:45 Mount Cottage

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and 
Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee Membership 2016/17
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Councillor Surinder Biant
Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Ian Duckworth
Councillor James Gartside
Councillor Jane Howard
Councillor Daniel Meredith
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Billy Sheerin
Councillor Shah Wazir

Public Document Pack



Rochdale Borough Council

ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 30th August 2016 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes 4 - 6

- To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Rochdale 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 2nd August 2016.

3.  Submitted Planning Applications 7 - 39

4.  Planning Appeals 



i) Notification that the following appeals have been lodged

 16/00189/HOUS – 2 Phoenix Street - First floor side extension 
- Resubmission  - Spotland and Falinge Ward (Delegated 
Decision)

ii)        Notification that the following appeals have been dismissed

 15/01282/HOUS – Bamford Hall Cottage – Erection of 
detached stable block – Norden Ward (Delegated Decision)

 16/00415/HOUS – 275 Albert Royds Street - Two storey and 
single storey rear extensions – Smallbridge and Firgrove 
Ward (Delegated Decision)

iii) Notification that the following appeals have been allowed

 None



P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 2nd August 2016

PRESENT:  Councillor Billy Sheerin (Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, Brett, Cocks, 
Duckworth, James Gartside, Rashid, Wazir and Zaheer

OFFICERS: D Ripa (Economy Directorate), C Denyer (Resources Directorate) 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillors Daalat Ali, Councillor Shakil Ahmed, 
Councillor Zaman and approximately 17 members of the public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Surinder Biant, Councillor Howard and 
Councillor Meredith

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
13 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
14 DECIDED – that the Minutes of the meeting of Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub-Committee held on the 5th July 2016 be approved as a correct 
record.

ERECTION OF EXTERNAL LIGHTING COLUMNS AT ROYLE BARN ROAD, 
ROCHDALE
15 The Director of Economy presented a report that detailed planning application 
number 16/00078/FUL which was for the erection of three external lighting columns 
to a yard (part retrospective application) at the site of Woolworths PLC, Royle Barn 
Road, Rochdale.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Mr. T. Brogan who addressed the 
meeting on behalf of the objectors to the application.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of the Mr M Hurst on behalf of the 
applicant, who addressed the Sub-Committee in relation to the application.

DECIDED – That the application for planning permission be granted subject to 
the conditions detailed in the submitted report.

TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION AND SINGLE STOREY FRONT EXTENSION AT 
HIGHER MOORGATE COTTAGE, GRISTLEHURST LANE
16 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00628/HOUS for a two storey side extension and single storey front extension 
including the demolition of an existing conservatory and porch (Resubmission of 
15/01020/HOUS) at Higher Moorgate Cottage, Gristlehurst Lane, Heywood OL10 4B.

The agent for the applicant and the applicant addressed the Sub-Committee in 
support of the application. No objectors were present.

DECIDED - That the application for planning permission be refused in 
accordance with the recommendation and reasons set out within the submitted 
report. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION INCLUDING BIN STORE AND CANOPY AREA, 
AND REVISED VEHICULAR ACCESS INCLUDING EXTENSION TO CAR PARK 
AT ST PETERS C OF E PRIMARY SCHOOL, MURIEL STREET
17 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00433/FUL for a single storey extension including bin store and canopy area, and 
revised vehicular access including extension to car park at St Peters C of E Primary 
School Muriel Street Rochdale OL16 5JQ. 

In introducing the report the Development Manager advised the Sub-Committee that 
that an updated plan had been received since the publication of the submitted report 
and that the number of proposed parking spaces had been reduced to 43 (including 2 
disabled spaces) to allow for the retention of shrubbery and landscaping adjacent to 
the boundary with 32 Lonsdale Road. 

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Mr A McCarroll and Mrs A Thornton 
who addressed the meeting on behalf of the objectors to the application.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of the Mr A Whelan on behalf of the 
applicant, who addressed the Sub-Committee in relation to the application.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Councillor Daalat Ali and Councillor 
Shakil Ahmed, Kingsway Ward Members, who addressed the Sub-Committee in 
relation to the application. 

DECIDED – That (1) the application for planning permission be granted subject 
to the conditions detailed in the submitted report; and 

(2) condition 5 to the submitted report be amended as follows:-
Prior to or within 28 days of their installation on site, the fence hereby 
approved shall be powder coated or painted green to match the colour of the 
existing adjacent boundary fencing.
Reason: In the interests of the general visual amenities of the vicinity in 
accordance with policy BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

Note: in accordance with Council procedure rules Councillor Brett requested his vote 
against the proposal be recorded.   

APPLICATION TO FELL ONE SYCAMORE TREE WITHIN AREA A2 OF TREE 
PRESERVATION ORDER NO. 88 AT THE LODGE 1, THE GREEN, ROCHDALE
18 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00643/WTTPO to request permission to fell one Sycamore tree within Area A2 of 
Tree Preservation Order No. 88 (The Woods, Royle Road Rochdale) at The Lodge, 
1, The Green, Rochdale, OL11 3NU 

In introducing the report the Development Manager advised of a site visit undertaken 
by members of the Sub-Committee.  The Development Manager further advised the 
Sub-Committee that the applicant had submitted additional information in support of 
the application to the Local Planning Authority and Members of the Rochdale 
Township Planning Sub-Committee.  The Council’s Tree and Woodland 
Development Officer had reviewed this information and advised that the additional 
information submitted by the applicant did not alter the recommendation to the 
committee for this application.

The applicant Mrs P Journeaux and the applicant addressed the Sub-Committee in 
support of the application. No objectors were present.

Page 5



DECIDED – That (1) authorisation for works to fell one Sycamore tree within 
Area A2 of Tree Preservation Order No. 88 (The Woods, Royle Road Rochdale) 
at The Lodge, 1, The Green, Rochdale, OL11 3NU be approved 

(2) the Sub-Committee resolved to grant the consent against the 
officer’s recommendation on the following grounds: safety concerns regarding 
the slippery path inhibiting safe access given the personal circumstances of 
the applicant, and the presence of woodland on the opposite side of the 
highway and the proximity of the tree to the property.  
                  
APPLICATION TO FELL T6 LIME WITHIN TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 23 AT 
RYEFIELDS, BURY ROAD, ROCHDALE
19 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00651/WTTPO for permission to fell T6 Lime within Tree Preservation Order 23 at 
Ryefields, Bury Road, Rochdale, OL11 4AU 

DECIDED – that the Sub-Committee Committee were minded to refuse consent 
but resolved to defer the application to allow further advice to be sought from 
the Tree and Woodland Development Officer in respect of safety should 
consent be refused.

Page 6



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to: Rochdale Township Planning  
Committee

Date:         30 August 2016 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 
related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 
and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 
matters which may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 
detailed in the following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2011 and 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and Regulations which 
support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 
report.

ITEM NO.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 
Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 
and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 
Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 
requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 
other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 
dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 
ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 
and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 
commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 
on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 
applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 
plan and other material planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 
protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 
effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 
including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 
material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 
Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all opportunities to 

Page 8



promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or where 
adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the 
planning merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on 
relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 
designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 
matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 
consideration to their comments.

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 
Development Plan, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 
public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.

Page 9



Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 
this agenda will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 

and of relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 
application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 
on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

Page 10

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 15/00924/FUL    Ward: Healey      

Proposal: Change of use of dwelling into two separate dwellings (resubmission 
14/01344/FUL), insertion of glazed elements into existing ground floor and erection of 
rear lean-to extension

Site Address: Mount Cottage  Shawclough Road Rochdale Lancashire OL12 7HR

Applicant: Mr & Mrs D O'Doherty
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

The application is before the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee as the 
recommendation conflicts with a previous decision of the Council. The Committee has 
delegated authority to refuse the application. If the Committee is minded to approve the 
application, it would be referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee for determination in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  

Page 11



SITE

The application relates to a Grade II Listed Building known as Mount Cottage on Shawclough 
Road in Rochdale. The substantial stone built detached property was constructed in the late 
18th or early 19th Century and is located within extensive grounds. The main front elevation of 
Mount Cottage faces south and adjoining the east facing side elevation is a two storey 
extension, however part of this remains open at ground floor level to allow access through. 

To the north there is a small courtyard and a detached block, which compromises two 
cottages fronting onto Shawclough Road. Adjoining the rear of these cottages is a single 
storey garage building that was previously utilised as stables. To the south is the detached 
dwelling of Mount Court, which shares an access point off Shawclough Road with the 
application dwelling.  This detached dwelling has been constructed in what was the former 
garden area of Mount Cottage. Also to the south, fronting onto Shawclough Road is a row of 
terraced properties. To the east are the more modern dwellings situated on Lowerfold Close.  
However, these are set at a significantly higher level than the application site and are not 
highly visible from Mount Cottage because of the large retaining wall and intervening 
vegetation situated.  

In 2010, planning permission and listed building consent were granted to convert this property 
into two dwellings, although this permission has not been implemented and has since expired.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks permission to convert Mount Cottage into two separate dwellings, and 
to infill the existing covered area underneath the two storey side extension to provide 
additional living space; both dwellings would contain three bedrooms.  A small lean-to 
extension is also proposed off the rear elevation measuring 2m x 4m with a height of 2.5m to 
eaves.  The applicant has indicated that the existing building is now too large for them to 
properly maintain and difficult to manage. According to their statement, the subdivision into 
two dwellings would ensure the future upkeep of the listed building.

Internal alterations are proposed to facilitate the conversion, including the bricking up of three 
doorways at first floor level and two doorways at ground floor level. A new doorway would be 
inserted into the morning room to facilitate access to a new staircase providing access to the 
first floor of unit 2. Downstairs a small WC enclosure would be formed with stud partitioning 
beneath the existing stairwell. 

Externally, the application seeks to infill the covered archway area beneath the existing two 
storey side extension. The front section of this walk-through has an attractive arched feature 
with stone head surround which would be retained. The front opening would be infilled with a 
grey-coloured lightweight aluminium surround glazed screen which is recessed 600mm from 
the front archway itself, and would feature a central single doorway opening. At the rear of the 
archway it is proposed that a small lobby extension would be constructed, faced using natural 
stone, with a blue slate pitched roof, cills and lintels to match and painted timber windows and 
doors. The lobby has been designed to facilitate access to unit no2 through the morning room 
to avoid the need to provide access through the Butler’s Pantry or directly into the impressive 
front family lounge. A similar aluminium glazed screen would be installed to infill the remainder 
of the rear arch and would be formed of a single pane of glass in order to maximise views 
through the archway. 

Unit no1 of the proposed dwellings would be accessed through the existing front main 
entrance in the south facing elevation of the building, although rear access would also be 
provided through an existing door into the hallway. The second unit would be accessed 
primarily through the glazed doors to be positioned in the infilled archway and would benefit 
from rear access through a door in the proposed lobby. Vehicular access would remain as 

Page 12



existing from Shawclough Road, with both dwellings having their own designated front garden 
area and off street parking provision. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1              Defined Urban Area

G/H/1              Housing
H/3 Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas
H/11                Residential Extensions

G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/13 Changes of Use to Listed Buildings
BE/14 Alterations and Extensions to Listed Buildings

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
 ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development’ – adopted June 2016

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY & BACKGROUND

89/D24355 Residential Development – One Dwellinghouse Land at Mount Cottage 
(Rear of West Bank Cottage) – Refused

08/D51407 Change of use and conversion of dwelling into two dwellings – Refused

10/D52982 Change of Use and Conversion of One Dwelling into Two Dwellings – 
Granted STC

10/D52983 Conversion of Listed Building into 2 Dwellings – Granted STC

Page 13



14/01344/FUL Conversion of one dwelling into two separate dwellings including infilling 
of ‘drive through’ to form part of living accommodation – Refused for the 
following reasons:

1. The application proposes to infill the existing open carriageway of Mount Cottage, a 
Grade II Listed Building. The proposed infill would result in the loss of a key 
contributing feature that has both historic and visual significance to the heritage value 
of the asset. This part of the proposal is not required to secure a viable use for the 
property. The proposal would therefore comprise ‘less than substantial harm’ to a 
designated heritage asset and no public benefits have been identified which would 
outweigh this harm. Consequently, the proposed development is contrary to policies 
BE/2 and BE/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

2. Paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework advises that where new 
development is proposed which would impinge on the sensitivity of heritage assets, the 
application should clearly demonstrate how its character and setting have been taken 
into account by the proposed development. The application does include a heritage 
statement detailing how the proposed development has taken into account the 
character, appearance and setting of this Grade II Listed Building and therefore the 
proposal is contrary to the advice given in the National Planning Policy Framework.

14/01345/LBC Conversion of one dwelling into two separate dwellings including infilling 
of ‘drive through’ to form part of living accommodation – Refused for the 
following reason:

1. The application proposes to infill the existing open carriageway of Mount Cottage, a 
Grade II Listed Building. The proposed infill would result in the loss of a key 
contributing feature that has both historic and visual significance to the heritage value 
of the asset. This part of the proposal is not required to secure a viable use for the 
property. The proposal would therefore comprise ‘less than substantial harm’ to a 
designated heritage asset and no public benefits have been identified which would 
outweigh this harm. Consequently, the proposed development is contrary to policies 
BE/2 and BE/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

15/00925/LBC Change of use of dwelling into two separate dwellings (resubmission 
14/01345/LBC) – Pending

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering – 

This application has proposed a 200% dedicated parking provision. Therefore I have no 
objections regarding this proposal. The application proposed will not affect refuse collection 
from the development. Adequate space will be retained as part of the proposed development 
to store and dispose of refuse collection. 

This development will not have a significant negative impact upon the local network capacity. 
The surrounding highway network will adequately accommodate vehicles from the 
development. This development will not have a significant negative impact upon road safety. 
Ample dedicated parking has been proposed therefore on street parking outside the 
development will not be an issue. 

No new access to the highway will be created by this development. Whilst the existing access 
point has limited visibility it is well established and the intensification of its usage it's not a 

Page 14



sufficient amount to justify objection to this application. This application will not impact upon 
the highways layout. Existing highways drainage will not change as a result of this 
development. No public right of way will be obstructed by this development.

Conservation and Design -

I have considered this application for the conversion of the Grade II listed Mount Cottage into 
two separate dwellings. The oldest part of the building (late C18) is the three bay west wing 
which retains many high status internal features.  These are largely untouched in the proposal. 
 The building was extended to the east with a further three bays including a bay window and 
carriage entrance in the mid C19.

The proposal includes the blocking up of doorways to separate the dwellings, the insertion of a 
new staircase, the conversion of the carriage entrance into a dining room and a small entrance 
lobby to the rear.

My main concern with the original proposal was the loss of the butler’s pantry for the insertion 
of the new staircase.  Although this is a fairly low status element of the building it is unusual in 
that it retains the original fixtures and fittings, including a historic doorway with decorative 
etched glass. I considered the loss of these details to cause significant harm to the building so 
the proposal was revised to keep this room intact.  To enable the building to be converted the 
staircase needed to be moved to a different room.  The family lounge had to remain 
untouched as this is an important historic space within the building.  The utility room at the rear 
and also the bathroom and hallway above have no significant features and as such I consider 
it acceptable to insert the staircase into this room.  

A number of smaller interventions are proposed for the interior of the building.  The WC area 
to the rear of the original house will be converted to form a kitchen, with an infill wall, and a 
new WC is proposed to the rear of the main staircase.  I would prefer the internal doors which 
are removed from elsewhere in the building to be reinstalled in these locations.  All details 
such as the cornices in the hallway should be retained.  Where doorways are bricked up the 
architraves should be retained to allow the original form of the building to be understood, and 
the walls should be plastered in a simple manner to ensure that architectural features are not 
harmed.

Any internal alterations and additions should be carried out with minimum interventions to the 
architectural features and all features should be retained where possible.

A new single storey entrance lobby is proposed to the north east corner of the building to allow 
internal access to both the main house and the proposed dining hall without any external 
interventions to the façade, family lounge or pantry.  This structure is set back slightly from the 
rear elevation of the C19 bay and built onto the rear of the carriage entrance.  The rear of the 
carriage entrance has very little significance, with a simple beam and no significant 
architectural features.  The design of the extension complements the main house and the 
materials match the existing.

A previous proposal was refused due to the infilling of the carriageway entrance.  Following 
recent discussions the latest proposal shows a dark grey lightweight construction aluminium 
framed glazed entrance set back 600mm from the arched entrance on the facade.  I consider 
this acceptable as the carriage entrance is still entirely readable and the screen recedes into 
the space.  The stone setts and flags have been largely replaced with random surfacing and 
therefore I consider the significance of this to be lost to a considerable extent.  I would prefer 
any intact setts and flags to be re-laid in front of the screen on the façade to indicate the 
original surfacing below the carriage entrance.

Page 15



A second lightweight aluminium screen is proposed alongside the extension at the rear of the 
property.  As this area is low significance I have no concerns about this intervention.

The planting scheme for the hedge needs to be specified.  It must be at an appropriate scale 
and growth rate to complement the building and not obscure the architecture.  New dry stone 
walling to match the existing to the front boundary is acceptable.

After discussions with the Agent and property owners, a site visit to consider the implications 
of this proposal and a number of amendments, I am satisfied that a sensitive scheme has 
been produced.  The property can be split into two dwellings while retaining the significance 
and character of the building, including the vast majority of important features.  

Policy BE/14 states that development proposals affecting the character of a Listed Building 
must not harm the architectural value or historic interest of the host building, its curtilage and 
the surrounding area.  I consider that there is less than substantial harm to the significance of 
the building, however I consider the benefits of the scheme outweigh the harm.  I consider the 
alterations to be reversible and they allow this large building to remain viable while retaining its 
character and significance.  I fully support this application.

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours, a site notice displayed within the 
vicinity of the site and an advert placed in the local press. No representations have been 
received.

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

The application seeks to convert a Grade II Listed dwellinghouse into two separate dwellings 
and carry out external alterations and as such the conversion works must be assessed against 
the provisions of Policies BE/13, BE/14 and H/3 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

Policy BE/13 allows for change of use of Listed Buildings where an appropriate and 
sympathetic balance is struck between the effect of changes on the special interest of the 
building and the viability of any proposed use. The application building is already in residential 
use and the principle of the subdivision of the property into two has been established by the 
grant of planning permission in 2010. The applicant has commented that they have owned the 
building for over 20 years and due to family members moving on and the size of the property 
(six bedrooms); it is becoming more difficult to manage and give the listed building the 
attention it deserves. The applicant therefore, is of the opinion that to split the building into two 
dwellings would enable them to reside in the family home but lessen the load in terms of 
maintenance works as the property would be shared, which in turn would secure the future of 
the building.  It is also the case that the glazed elements within the carriageway entrance 
would be reversible but converting this area of the building to residential would increase the 
likelihood that the building would be properly maintained.  The application has sought to 
ensure that the most sensitive and valuable heritage elements within the building (such as the 
pantry) are protected; the proposed lean-to extension would be on a less sensitive part of the 
existing building.  All these factors are considered to weight in favour of the scheme.

It is considered that additional dwelling unit can be accommodated without harming the special 
character of the building, and the principle of such development has already been established 
by the approval in 2010. As such, the principle of creating an additional residential unit is 
considered to comply with UDP Policy BE/13.  It would also contribute to the supply of family 
housing in the borough. However, the application differs in a number of ways from the 
approved scheme from 2010, and therefore, must also be assessed against UDP Policy 

Page 16



BE/14.  This policy states that development proposals affecting the character and appearance 
of a listed building must not harm the architectural value or historic interest of the host 
building, its curtilage or surrounding area. The design implications of the proposal, and the 
extension, are considered in more detail below. 

Policy H/3 states that proposals for housing development on sites not allocated for housing or 
any other use in the plan will be permitted provided that:

a. The site is on previously developed land;
b. The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 

transport other than the car;
c. The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of types and size;
d. The proposed development is compatible with the Plan’s policies dealing with flood 

risk, unstable land, contaminated land and landfill gas; and
e. The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including 

highways, both in terms of its impact those uses and the impact of surrounding 
uses upon the amenity of future residents. 

The subdivision of an existing building is considered to be ‘brownfield’ development and the 
application site is located on a classified road with good public transport links to Rochdale 
Town Centre. As such, the site is considered to represent sustainable development in relation 
to its accessible location and the subdivision would help to provide a further mix of housing in 
the area.  There is no evidence available to the LPA that the land is unstable, prone to flooding 
or has a history of contamination. The compatibility of the proposed development with 
surrounding uses and highway safety are considered in more detail below. With the above in 
mind, and keeping in mind the previous approval on this site, it is considered that the principle 
of converting this property into two dwellings is acceptable. 

Recreational Open Space

Policy H/6 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan requires all developments, 
regardless of scale, to make a contribution to recreational open space provision in the 
Borough. Nevertheless, in November 2014, the Government made a policy announcement 
that tariff style planning obligations should not be applied to developments of 10 dwellings or 
fewer or with a floorspace of less than 1000sqm. The Council’s recreational open space policy 
is a tariff style planning obligation and as such was caught by this change in policy. 

As a consequence Members of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee determined at their 
meeting of 22nd December 2014 that the change to government policy should be implemented 
with immediate effect and therefore no contribution to recreational open space is required from 
this development.

Design, Appearance and Impact on Listed Building

Criteria (a), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 

scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;
 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

The application relates to a Grade II Listed Building and the proposal must therefore be 
assessed in relation to Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Area) 
Act 1990 (as amended). This section states that in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning 

Page 17



authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

‘Significance’ with regard to heritage assets is defined by the NPPF as:
‘The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage 
interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. 
Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from 
its setting.’

The setting of a listed building is defined by the NPPF as:
‘The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and 
may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make 
a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability 
to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.’

Furthermore, the Court of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable 
importance and weight to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when 
carrying out the balancing exercise. The duties of the LPA in the Listed Building and 
Conservation Area Act are also incorporated into the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, 
specifically policies G/BE/9 and BE/14. 

Core planning principle 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework is concerned with 
conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Paragraph 129 states that local planning 
authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that 
may be affected by a proposal taking account of the available evidence and any necessary 
expertise. They should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of a 
proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s 
conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

Paragraph 131 states that in determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should take account of:

 The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

 The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and

 The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.

Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that in considering the impact of a proposed development, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. Significance can be harmed or lost 
through alteration of a heritage asset and as they are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should 
require clear and convincing justification.  Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed 
building should be exceptional.  

Paragraph 133 goes on to state that where a proposed development would lead to substantial 
harm to or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent unless it is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh the harm or loss or where all four criteria set out in the paragraph apply. 

Planning practice guidance identifies that substantial harm is a high test and may not arise in 
many cases. Whether a proposal causes substantial harm will be a judgment for the decision 
taker, having regard to the circumstances of the case and the policy in the National Planning 
Policy Framework. In determining whether works to a listed building constitute substantial 
harm, an important consideration would be whether the adverse impact seriously affects a key 
element of its special architectural or historic interest.  It is the degree of harm to the asset’s 

Page 18



significance rather than the scale of the development that is to be assessed. The harm may 
arise from works to the asset or from development within its setting.

As noted previously, the building benefits from Grade II designation; the listing text of the entry 
reads as follows:

‘House. Late C18 and mid Cl9. Watershot stone and ashlar with stone slate roof. 2 
storeys, 3 bays; double-depth central-staircase plan with 3-bay addition to the right 
including a carraige entry and bay window. Central door has moulded architraves 
surround, 4 16-pane sashes and 1 C20 replacement each with stone heads, sills and 
jambs. Eaves frieze and cornice; gable stacks. The later addition is to the right, the first 
bay projecting considerably with a rusticated canted bay window with parapet and a 
tripartite window above. The other 2 additional bays have an arched carriage entry on 
the ground floor and 2 sash-windows on the first, otherwise detailing is similar to that of 
the original house. The rear has an arched stair window and a total of 7 original sash 
windows with glazing bars.’ 

Internally, the scheme proposes the blocking up of doorways to separate the dwellings, the 
insertion of a new staircase and the conversion of the carriage entrance into a dining room. 
Externally the scheme proposes to infill the archway beneath the C19th extension to the 
house and the construction of a small entrance lobby to the rear.

It was noted in the refusal of the previous planning application (14/01344/FUL), which similarly 
proposed to infill the archway with timber framed glazing, that the open carriageway area is an 
important feature of the building, therefore having historical interest whilst also adding visual 
interest to the front façade. It was considered that the scheme put forward at the time would 
result in the loss of the existing visual quality of the feature, in part because a proposed 
internal staircase would have been visible through the glazing.

Detailed consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Conservation and Design Officer 
who notes that their main concern with the proposal as originally submitted was the loss of the 
butler’s pantry for the insertion of the new staircase. Although it is acknowledged that the 
pantry is a fairly low status element of the building it is unusual in that it retains the original 
fixtures and fittings, including a historic doorway with decorative etched glass. The 
Conservation Officer considers that the loss of these details would cause significant harm to 
the building.

The proposal was therefore revised in consultation with the LPA to keep the pantry room 
intact. As such, in order to enable the building to be converted, the staircase needed to be 
moved to a different room. A sequential approach was taken to this issue, with the family 
lounge identified as a priority for retention as it is an important historic space within the 
building. The utility room at the rear, and also the bathroom and hallway at first floor level, 
have no significant features and as such it is considered acceptable to insert the staircase into 
this room.  

A new single storey entrance lobby is proposed to the north east corner of the building to allow 
internal access to both the main house and the proposed dining hall without any external 
interventions to the façade, family lounge or pantry.  This structure is set back slightly from the 
rear elevation of the C19 bay and built onto the rear of the carriage entrance.  The rear of the 
carriage entrance is considered to have very little significance, with a simple beam and no 
significant architectural features. The design of the extension complements the main house 
and the materials match the existing, subject to a condition attached to the permission to 
require final confirmation of materials and a sample stone panel.

Following prolonged discussions between the applicant and the LPA, the amended proposal 
shows a dark grey lightweight-construction aluminium-framed glazed entrance set back 

Page 19



600mm from the arched entrance on the facade.  The Conservation Officer considers this to 
represent an acceptable addition to the fabric of the building as the carriage entrance would 
still be entirely readable, and the screen would recede into the space. In regards to the 
flooring, the stone setts and flags have been largely replaced with random surfacing and 
therefore they consider the significance of this to be lost to a considerable extent.  The officer 
has indicated that they would ideally prefer for any intact setts and flags to be re-laid in front of 
the screen on the façade to indicate the original surfacing below the carriage entrance and a 
condition to this effect is proposed to be attached to the permission. A second lightweight 
aluminium screen is proposed alongside the extension at the rear of the property.  As this area 
is of low significance the Conservation Officer has no concerns about this intervention.

The Conservation Officer has added to their comments to state that following discussions with 
both the agent and property owners and a site visit to consider the implications of this proposal 
and a number of amendments, that they are satisfied that a sensitive scheme has been 
produced. They conclude that the property can be split into two dwellings while retaining the 
significance and character of the building, including the vast majority of important features.  

Policy BE/14 states that development proposals affecting the character of a Listed Building 
must not harm the architectural value or historic interest of the host building, its curtilage and 
the surrounding area.  The Conservation Officer is of the opinion that there is less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the building; however they consider the public benefits 
of the scheme, in the re-use and retention of the Listed Building to outweigh the identified 
harm.  They note that the alterations are reversible and allow the comparatively large building 
to remain in a viable use while retaining its character and significance.  

Whilst it is noted that an application on the site was previously refused, in part due to the 
proposed infilling of the existing archway, the current proposal is considered to differ 
significantly from the previously refused scheme in that the proposed front screen would now 
be recessed into the arch – minimising the visual impact of the structure – and it is no longer 
proposed to install a staircase within the newly formed dining room, thereby removing a 
significant proposed obstruction which would have served to block views through the 
carriageway. A convincing justification for the proposed scheme is put forward in the fact that it 
will serve to preserve in its entirety the Butler’s Pantry.  

Impact upon Surrounding Land Uses

UDP policy H/3, criterion (e), requires development proposals to be compatible with 
surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding 
uses upon the amenity of future residents. Further to this, paragraph 17 of the NPPF, 
containing the ‘core planning principles’, advises that planning should always seek to secure a 
good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.

The application property is currently in residential use and it is not considered that an 
intensification of this use, to form two dwellings, would have a significant impact upon any 
neighbouring residents. The application does not propose to extend beyond the existing 
external parameters of the building, or bring it any closer to neighbouring properties and as 
such; the proposed development shares an acceptable relationship with the surrounding area. 

As well as the impact upon neighbouring residents, the relationship between the proposed 
residents of the converted dwelling must also be considered. The proposed conversion to two 
dwellings has been designed in such a way as to ensure that the proposed properties would 
share an acceptable relationship with each other. Neither of the units would have clear views 
into the neighbouring property, and the relationship between the two dwellings would be no 
different to that as found between the majority of semi-detached properties throughout the 
Borough. As such, the proposal shares an acceptable relationship with the surrounding area, 

Page 20



as well as ensuring that the amenity of the future occupiers of the application property is 
acceptable.  

Highways

Policy A/8 of the Unitary Development Plan states that new development will be permitted 
provided that the additional traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient 
operation of the Highway Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Proposals 
should not:

a. Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b. Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c. Substantially increase congestion;
d. Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e. Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

Further to this, UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to 
facilitate safe and convenient access for general traffic including car, motorcycles and 
commercial vehicles and relative to the scale, type and location of development, the proposals 
should ensure that access points to and from premises are safe, convenient and suitable for 
the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them and access for 
emergency and service vehicles is provided.

The Council’s requirements for provision of parking are set out within policy A/10, which refers 
to the Council’s Schedule of Parking Standards – identifying maximum standards for car 
parking provision and minimum standard for cycle and motorcycle parking. 

Consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Highways Officer who notes that the 
application has proposed a 200% dedicated parking provision and they therefore raise no 
objection on these grounds. The scheme proposed would not affect refuse collection from the 
development, with adequate space retained as part of the proposed development to store and 
dispose of refuse collection. 

The development would not have a significant negative impact upon the local network capacity 
with the surrounding highway network adequately accommodating vehicles from the 
development. The development would not have a significant negative impact upon road safety 
and ample dedicated parking would ensure that on street parking outside the development 
would not be an issue. 

No new access to the highway would be created by the development. Whilst the existing 
access point to Shawclough Road has limited visibility it is well established and the 
intensification, with an additional unit, would not be of a sufficient level to justify a refusal of the 
application on these grounds. The application would not impact upon the highways layout with 
the existing highways drainage remaining unaltered. No public right of way would be 
obstructed by the development.

Conclusion

In summary, with regard to sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas Act) 1990 (as amended) the proposed conversion and alteration works 
would not result in the unacceptable loss of any features of special architectural or historic 
interest.  The proposed screens within the archway and the rear porch extension would result 
in some harm, although it would be less than substantial harm and therefore, this must be 
balanced against the potential public benefit of the proposal.  In this case the benefits arise 

Page 21



from the fact that the scale of the existing dwelling is difficult to manage as a single dwelling.  
Splitting the unit would bring a less sensitive part of the building into residential use and 
ensure that the use of the whole building is optimised and brought into use thus helping to 
secure its long term conservation.  Given that the harm arising from the proposed alterations 
in this case is minimal as the extensions are sensitively designed, the proposal, on balance, is 
considered to accord with policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the conditions:-

1 The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date of 
this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- Location Plan serial no. 02712100 coordinates 388239.5 415540.5
- Design and Access Statement
- Existing Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. 1723.01 dated April 2008
- Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. 1723.02 rev. H dated January 2016 
received 28.06.16

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no works shall take place 
until samples and / or full specifications of materials to be used within the works have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details 
shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Work shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason & reason for pre-commencement: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance 
in the interests of visual amenity and in the interests of preserving the significance of the 
Grade II Listed Building in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

 4 No above ground work on the extension or extended garden wall shall take place until 
such time as one metre square freestanding panels of stonework showing the type of 
natural stone and stonework to be used in the construction of the extension and garden 
walling hereby permitted have been constructed on site and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. All new stonework shall thereafter match that of the approved 
panels in terms of the stone used and the coursing, jointing and mortar mix and finish, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The stone panels so 
constructed shall be retained on the site until the works hereby approved have been 
completed.

Page 22



Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 5 Details, including samples, of both internal and external doors to be utilised in the 
building shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing before 
any such doors are installed. Such details shall indicate, at a scale of not less than 1:20, 
the longitudinal and cross-sectional detailing, cill and lintel detailing, and means of 
opening together with any finished treatment. The works shall thereafter be completed in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 6 Details of the window frames to be utilised in the works hereby permitted, including 
samples if so required, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing before any such window frames are installed. Such details shall indicate, at a 
scale of not less than 1:20, the longitudinal and cross-sectional detailing, cill and lintel 
detailing, and means of opening together with any finished treatment. The window 
frames shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and thereafter so 
maintained.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 7 No above ground works shall commence on site until details of all new or replacement 
rainwater goods and their means of fixing to the building have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 8 No works shall commence on site until details of all new or replacement internal joinery, 
including doors, door linings, architraves, beading, skirtings, wood panelling and 
staircases (including balusters, newel posts and handrails), have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 9 No works on the new internal staircase shall take place on site until a detailed 
specification for the staircase itself, along with a detailed method statement to outline the 
method of fixing to the internal fabric of the building has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 23



Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

10 No works shall take place until such time as a scheme for the salvage, retention and re-
use of the stone setts beneath the archway has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason & reason for pre-commencement: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance 
in the interests of visual amenity and in the interests of preserving the significance of the 
Grade II Listed Building in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

11 (a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft landscaping works 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
details shall include the formation of any banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard 
surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications and schedules (including 
planting size, species and numbers/densities), existing plants / trees to be retained and a 
scheme for the timing / phasing of implementation works.

(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme 
for timing / phasing of implementation or within the next planting season following final 
occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the sooner.

(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition which are 
removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or become seriously 
diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the next planting season by 
trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted.

Reason:  To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its location 
and the nature of the proposed development and in accordance with Policies BE/2 and 
BE/8 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

12 Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plans, the proposed 
driveway/hardsurfacing to the front of the property shall be constructed using permeable 
materials on a permeable base, or provision shall be made to direct run-off water from 
the hard surface to a permeable or porous area or surface within the boundaries of the 
property. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory disposal of surface water in accordance with Policy EM/7 
of the Rochdale Council Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework

Report Author David Allen

_________________________________________

Page 24



Application Number: 15/00925/LBC    Ward: Healey      

Proposal: Change of use of dwelling into two separate dwellings (resubmission 
14/01345/LBC), insertion of glazed elements into existing ground floor, erection of rear 
lean-to extension, blocking up of 5 internal doorways, insertion of new internal staircase 
and new stud partitioning

Site Address: Mount Cottage  Shawclough Road Rochdale Lancashire OL12 7HR

Applicant: Mr & Mrs D O'Doherty
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

The application is before the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee as the 
recommendation conflicts with a previous decision of the Council. The Committee has 
delegated authority to refuse the application. If the Committee is minded to approve the 
application, it would be referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee for determination in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  

Page 25



SITE

The application relates to a Grade II Listed Building known as Mount Cottage on Shawclough 
Road in Rochdale. The substantial stone built detached property was constructed in the late 
18th or early 19th Century and is located within extensive grounds. The main front elevation of 
Mount Cottage faces south and adjoining the east facing side elevation is a two storey 
extension, however part of this remains open at ground floor level to allow access through. 

To the north there is a small courtyard and a detached block, which compromises two 
cottages fronting onto Shawclough Road. Adjoining the rear of these cottages is a single 
storey garage building that was previously utilised as stables. To the south is the detached 
dwelling of Mount Court, which shares an access point off Shawclough Road with the 
application dwelling.  This detached dwelling has been constructed in what was the former 
garden area of Mount Cottage. Also to the south, fronting onto Shawclough Road is a row of 
terraced properties. To the east are the more modern dwellings situated on Lowerfold Close, 
however these are set at a significantly higher level than the application site and are not highly 
visible from Mount Cottage because of the large retaining wall and intervening vegetation 
situated.  

In 2010, planning permission and listed building consent were granted to convert this property 
into two dwellings, although this permission has not been implemented.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks listed building consent for the works involved to convert Mount Cottage 
into two separate dwellings, and to infill the existing covered area underneath the two storey 
side extension to provide additional living space; both dwellings would contain three 
bedrooms. A small lean-to extension is also proposed off the rear elevation measuring 2m x 
4m with a height of 2.5m to eaves. The applicant has indicated that the existing building is now 
too large for them to properly maintain and difficult to manage. The subdivision into two 
dwellings would ensure the future upkeep of the listed building.

Internal alterations are proposed to facilitate the conversion, including the bricking up of three 
doorways at first floor level and two doorways at ground floor level. A new doorway would be 
inserted into the morning room to facilitate access to a new staircase providing access to the 
first floor of unit 2. Downstairs a small WC enclosure would be formed with stud partitioning 
beneath the existing stairwell. 

Externally, the application seeks to infill the covered archway area beneath the existing two 
storey side extension. The front section of this walk-through has an attractive arched feature 
with stone head surround which would be retained. The front opening would be infilled with a 
grey-coloured lightweight aluminium surround glazed screen which is recessed 600mm from 
the front archway itself, and would feature a central single doorway opening. At the rear of the 
archway it is proposed that a small lobby extension would be constructed, faced using natural 
stone, with a blue slate pitched roof, cills and lintels to match and painted timber windows and 
doors. The lobby has been designed to facilitate access to unit no2 through the morning room 
to avoid the need to provide access through the Butler’s Pantry or directly into the impressive 
front family lounge. A similar aluminium glazed screen would be installed to infill the remainder 
of the rear arch and would be formed of a single pane of glass in order to maximise views 
through the archway. 

Unit no1 of the proposed dwellings would be accessed through the existing front main 
entrance in the south facing elevation of the building, although rear access would also be 
provided through an existing door into the hallway. The second unit would be accessed 
primarily through the glazed doors to be positioned in the infilled archway and would benefit 

Page 26



from rear access through a door in the proposed lobby. Vehicular access would remain as 
existing from Shawclough Road, with both dwellings having their own designated front garden 
area and off street parking provision. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/13 Changes of Use to Listed Buildings
BE/14 Alterations and Extensions to Listed Buildings

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY & BACKGROUND

89/D24355 Residential Development – One Dwellinghouse Land at Mount Cottage 
(Rear of West Bank Cottage) – Refused

08/D51407 Change of use and conversion of dwelling into two dwellings – Refused

10/D52982 Change of Use and Conversion of One Dwelling into Two Dwellings – 
Granted STC

10/D52983 Conversion of Listed Building into 2 Dwellings – Granted STC

14/01344/FUL Conversion of one dwelling into two separate dwellings including infilling 
of ‘drive through’ to form part of living accommodation – Refused for the 
following reasons:

1. The application proposes to infill the existing open carriageway of Mount Cottage, a 
Grade II Listed Building. The proposed infill would result in the loss of a key 
contributing feature that has both historic and visual significance to the heritage value 
of the asset. This part of the proposal is not required to secure a viable use for the 
property. The proposal would therefore comprise ‘less than substantial harm’ to a 
designated heritage asset and no public benefits have been identified which would 
outweigh this harm. Consequently, the proposed development is contrary to policies 
BE/2 and BE/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Page 27



2. Paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework advises that where new 
development is proposed which would impinge on the sensitivity of heritage assets, the 
application should clearly demonstrate how its character and setting have been taken 
into account by the proposed development. The application does include a heritage 
statement detailing how the proposed development has taken into account the 
character, appearance and setting of this Grade II Listed Building and therefore the 
proposal is contrary to the advice given in the National Planning Policy Framework.

14/01345/LBC Conversion of one dwelling into two separate dwellings including infilling 
of ‘drive through’ to form part of living accommodation – Refused for the 
following reason:

1. The application proposes to infill the existing open carriageway of Mount Cottage, a 
Grade II Listed Building. The proposed infill would result in the loss of a key 
contributing feature that has both historic and visual significance to the heritage value 
of the asset. This part of the proposal is not required to secure a viable use for the 
property. The proposal would therefore comprise ‘less than substantial harm’ to a 
designated heritage asset and no public benefits have been identified which would 
outweigh this harm. Consequently, the proposed development is contrary to policies 
BE/2 and BE/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

15/00924/FUL Change of use of dwelling into two separate dwellings (resubmission 
14/01344/FUL) - Pending

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Conservation and Design -  I have considered this application for the conversion of the Grade 
II listed Mount Cottage into two separate dwellings. The oldest part of the building (late C18) is 
the three bay west wing which retains many high status internal features.  These are largely 
untouched in the proposal.  The building was extended to the east with a further three bays 
including a bay window and carriage entrance in the mid C19.

The proposal includes the blocking up of doorways to separate the dwellings, the insertion of a 
new staircase, the conversion of the carriage entrance into a dining room and a small entrance 
lobby to the rear.

My main concern with the original proposal was the loss of the butler’s pantry for the insertion 
of the new staircase.  Although this is a fairly low status element of the building it is unusual in 
that it retains the original fixtures and fittings, including a historic doorway with decorative 
etched glass. I considered the loss of these details to cause significant harm to the building so 
the proposal was revised to keep this room intact.  To enable the building to be converted the 
staircase needed to be moved to a different room.  The family lounge had to remain 
untouched as this is an important historic space within the building.  The utility room at the rear 
and also the bathroom and hallway above have no significant features and as such I consider 
it acceptable to insert the staircase into this room.  

A number of smaller interventions are proposed for the interior of the building.  The WC area 
to the rear of the original house will be converted to form a kitchen, with an infill wall, and a 
new WC is proposed to the rear of the main staircase.  I would prefer the internal doors which 
are removed from elsewhere in the building to be reinstalled in these locations.  All details 
such as the cornices in the hallway should be retained.  Where doorways are bricked up the 
architraves should be retained to allow the original form of the building to be understood, and 
the walls should be plastered in a simple manner to ensure that architectural features are not 
harmed.

Page 28



Any internal alterations and additions should be carried out with minimum interventions to the 
architectural features and all features should be retained where possible.

A new single storey entrance lobby is proposed to the north east corner of the building to allow 
internal access to both the main house and the proposed dining hall without any external 
interventions to the façade, family lounge or pantry.  This structure is set back slightly from the 
rear elevation of the C19 bay and built onto the rear of the carriage entrance.  The rear of the 
carriage entrance has very little significance, with a simple beam and no significant 
architectural features.  The design of the extension complements the main house and the 
materials match the existing.

A previous proposal was refused due to the infilling of the carriageway entrance.  Following 
recent discussions the latest proposal shows a dark grey lightweight construction aluminium 
framed glazed entrance set back 600mm from the arched entrance on the facade.  I consider 
this acceptable as the carriage entrance is still entirely readable and the screen recedes into 
the space.  The stone setts and flags have been largely replaced with random surfacing and 
therefore I consider the significance of this to be lost to a considerable extent.  I would prefer 
any intact setts and flags to be re-laid in front of the screen on the façade to indicate the 
original surfacing below the carriage entrance.

A second lightweight aluminium screen is proposed alongside the extension at the rear of the 
property.  As this area is low significance I have no concerns about this intervention.

The planting scheme for the hedge needs to be specified.  It must be at an appropriate scale 
and growth rate to complement the building and not obscure the architecture.  New dry stone 
walling to match the existing to the front boundary is acceptable.

After discussions with the Agent and property owners, a site visit to consider the implications 
of this proposal and a number of amendments, I am satisfied that a sensitive scheme has 
been produced.  The property can be split into two dwellings while retaining the significance 
and character of the building, including the vast majority of important features.  

Policy BE/14 states that development proposals affecting the character of a Listed Building 
must not harm the architectural value or historic interest of the host building, its curtilage and 
the surrounding area.  I consider that there is less than substantial harm to the significance of 
the building, however I consider the benefits of the scheme outweigh the harm.  I consider the 
alterations to be reversible and they allow this large building to remain viable while retaining its 
character and significance.  I fully support this application.

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours, a site notice displayed within the 
vicinity of the site and an advert placed in the local press. No representations have been 
received.

ANALYSIS

Criteria (a), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 

scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;
 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Page 29



The application relates to a Grade II Listed Building and the proposal must therefore be 
assessed in relation to Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Area) 
Act 1990 (as amended). This section states that in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning 
authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

‘Significance’ with regard to heritage assets is defined by the NPPF as:
‘The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage 
interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. 
Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from 
its setting.’

The setting of a listed building is defined by the NPPF as:
‘The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and 
may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make 
a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability 
to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.’

Furthermore, the Court of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable 
importance and weight to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when 
carrying out the balancing exercise. The duties of the LPA in the Listed Building and 
Conservation Area Act are also incorporated into the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, 
specifically policies G/BE/9 and BE/14. 

Core planning principle 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework is concerned with 
conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Paragraph 129 states that local planning 
authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that 
may be affected by a proposal taking account of the available evidence and any necessary 
expertise. They should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of a 
proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s 
conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

Paragraph 131 states that in determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should take account of:

 The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

 The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and

 The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.

Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that in considering the impact of a proposed development, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. Significance can be harmed or lost 
through alteration of a heritage asset and as they are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should 
require clear and convincing justification.  Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed 
building should be exceptional.  

Paragraph 133 goes on to state that where a proposed development would lead to substantial 
harm to or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent unless it is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh the harm or loss or where all four criteria set out in the paragraph apply. 

Planning practice guidance identifies that substantial harm is a high test and may not arise in 
many cases. Whether a proposal causes substantial harm will be a judgment for the decision 
taker, having regard to the circumstances of the case and the policy in the National Planning 

Page 30



Policy Framework. In determining whether works to a listed building constitute substantial 
harm, an important consideration would be whether the adverse impact seriously affects a key 
element of its special architectural or historic interest.  It is the degree of harm to the asset’s 
significance rather than the scale of the development that is to be assessed. The harm may 
arise from works to the asset or from development within its setting.

As noted previously, the building benefits from Grade II designation; the listing text of the entry 
reads as follows:

‘House. Late C18 and mid Cl9. Watershot stone and ashlar with stone slate roof. 2 
storeys, 3 bays; double-depth central-staircase plan with 3-bay addition to the right 
including a carraige entry and bay window. Central door has moulded architraves 
surround, 4 16-pane sashes and 1 C20 replacement each with stone heads, sills and 
jambs. Eaves frieze and cornice; gable stacks. The later addition is to the right, the first 
bay projecting considerably with a rusticated canted bay window with parapet and a 
tripartite window above. The other 2 additional bays have an arched carriage entry on 
the ground floor and 2 sash-windows on the first, otherwise detailing is similar to that of 
the original house. The rear has an arched stair window and a total of 7 original sash 
windows with glazing bars.’ 

Internally, the scheme proposes the blocking up of doorways to separate the dwellings, the 
insertion of a new staircase and the conversion of the carriage entrance into a dining room. 
Externally the scheme proposes to infill the archway beneath the C19th extension to the 
house and the construction of a small entrance lobby to the rear.

It was noted in the refusal of the previous planning & listed building consent applications 
(14/01344/FUL & 14/01345/LBC), which similarly proposed to infill the archway with timber 
framed glazing, that the open carriageway area is an important feature of the building, 
therefore having historical interest whilst also adding visual interest to the front façade. It was 
considered that the scheme put forward at the time would result in the loss of the existing 
visual quality of the feature, in part because a proposed internal staircase would have been 
visible through the glazing.

Detailed consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Conservation and Design Officer 
who notes that their main concern with the proposal as originally submitted was the loss of the 
butler’s pantry (shown in the below photos) for the insertion of the new staircase. Although it is 
acknowledged that the pantry is a fairly low status element of the building it is unusual in that it 
retains the original fixtures and fittings, including a historic doorway with decorative etched 
glass. The Conservation Officer considers that the loss of these details would cause significant 
harm to the building.

The proposal was therefore revised in consultation with the LPA to keep the pantry room 
intact. As such, in order to enable the building to be converted the staircase needed to be 
moved to a different room. A sequential approach was taken to this issue, with the family 
lounge identified as a priority for needing to remain untouched, as it is an important historic 
space within the building. The utility room at the rear, and also the bathroom and hallway at 
first floor level, have no significant features and as such it is considered acceptable to insert 
the staircase into this room.  

A new single storey entrance lobby is proposed to the north east corner of the building to allow 
internal access to both the main house and the proposed dining hall without any external 
interventions to the façade, family lounge or pantry.  This structure is set back slightly from the 
rear elevation of the C19 bay and built onto the rear of the carriage entrance.  The rear of the 
carriage entrance is considered to have very little significance, with a simple beam and no 
significant architectural features. The design of the extension complements the main house 

Page 31



and the materials match the existing, subject to a condition attached to the permission to 
require final confirmation of materials and a sample stone panel.

Following prolonged discussions between the applicant and the LPA, the amended proposal 
shows a dark grey lightweight-construction aluminium-framed glazed entrance set back 
600mm from the arched entrance on the facade.  The Conservation Officer considers this to 
represent an acceptable addition to the fabric of the building as the carriage entrance would 
still be entirely readable, and the screen would recede into the space. In regards to the 
flooring, the stone setts and flags have been largely replaced with random surfacing and 
therefore they consider the significance of this to be lost to a considerable extent.  The officer 
has indicated that they would ideally prefer for any intact setts and flags to be re-laid in front of 
the screen on the façade to indicate the original surfacing below the carriage entrance and a 
condition to this effect is proposed to be attached to the permission. A second lightweight 
aluminium screen is proposed alongside the extension at the rear of the property.  As this area 
is of low significance the Conservation Officer has no concerns about this intervention.

The Conservation Officer has added to their comments to state that following discussions with 
both the agent and property owners and a site visit to consider the implications of this proposal 
and a number of amendments, that they are satisfied that a sensitive scheme has been 
produced. They conclude that the property can be split into two dwellings while retaining the 
significance and character of the building, including the vast majority of important features.  

Policy BE/14 states that development proposals affecting the character of a Listed Building 
must not harm the architectural value or historic interest of the host building, its curtilage and 
the surrounding area.  The Conservation Officer is of the opinion that there is less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the building; however they consider the public benefits 
of the scheme, in the re-use and retention of the Listed Building to outweigh the identified 
harm.  They note that the alterations are reversible and allow the comparatively large building 
to remain in a viable use while retaining its character and significance.  

Whilst it is noted that an application on the site was previously refused, in part due to the 
proposed infilling of the existing archway, the current proposal is considered to differ 
significantly from the previously refused scheme in that the proposed front screen would now 
be recessed into the arch – minimising the visual impact of the structure – and it is no longer 
proposed to install a staircase within the newly formed dining room, thereby removing a 
significant proposed obstruction which would have served to block views through the 
carriageway. A convincing justification for the proposed scheme is put forward in the fact that it 
will serve to preserve in its entirety the Butler’s Pantry.  

Conclusion

In summary, with regard to sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas Act) 1990 (as amended) the proposed conversion and alteration works 
would not result in the unacceptable loss of any features of special architectural or historic 
interest.  The proposed screens within the archway and the rear porch extension would result 
in some harm, although it would be less than substantial harm and therefore, this must be 
balanced against the potential public benefit of the proposal.  In this case the benefits arise 
from the fact that the scale of the existing dwelling is difficult to manage as a single dwelling.  
Splitting the unit would bring a less sensitive part of the building into residential use and 
ensure that the use of the whole building is optimised and brought into use thus helping to 
secure its long term conservation.  Given that the harm arising from the proposed alterations 
in this case is minimal as the extensions are sensitively designed, the proposal, on balance, is 
considered to accord with policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 32



RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the conditions:-

1 The works must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the 
date of this consent.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 18 of the Planning (Listed Building 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- Location Plan serial no. 02712100 coordinates 388239.5 415540.5
- Design and Access Statement
- Existing Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. 1723.01 dated April 2008
- Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. 1723.02 rev. H dated January 2016 
received 28.06.16

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no works shall take place 
until samples and / or full specifications of materials to be used within the works have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details 
shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Work shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason & reason for pre-commencement: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance 
in the interests of visual amenity and in the interests of preserving the significance of the 
Grade II Listed Building in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

 4 No above ground work on the extension or extended garden wall shall take place until 
such time as one metre square freestanding panels of stonework showing the type of 
natural stone and stonework to be used in the construction of the extension and garden 
walling hereby permitted have been constructed on site and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. All new stonework shall thereafter match that of the approved 
panels in terms of the stone used and the coursing, jointing and mortar mix and finish, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The stone panels so 
constructed shall be retained on the site until the works hereby approved have been 
completed.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 5 Details, including samples if so required, of both internal and external doors to be utilised 
in the building shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing 
before any such doors are installed. Such details shall indicate, at a scale of not less 

Page 33



than 1:20, the longitudinal and cross-sectional detailing, cill and lintel detailing, and 
means of opening together with any finished treatment. The works shall thereafter be 
completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 6 Details of the window frames to be utilised in the works hereby permitted, including 
samples if so required, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing before any such window frames are installed. Such details shall indicate, at a 
scale of not less than 1:20, the longitudinal and cross-sectional detailing, cill and lintel 
detailing, and means of opening together with any finished treatment. The window 
frames shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and thereafter so 
maintained.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 7 No above ground works shall commence on site until details of all new or replacement 
rainwater goods and their means of fixing to the building have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 8 No works shall commence on site until details of all new or replacement internal joinery, 
including doors, door linings, architraves, beading, skirtings, wood panelling and 
staircases (including balusters, newel posts and handrails), have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 9 No works on the new internal staircase shall take place on site until a detailed 
specification for the staircase itself, along with a detailed method statement to outline the 
method of fixing to the internal fabric of the building has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and in the interests of preserving the significance of the Grade II Listed Building in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

10 No works shall take place until such time as a scheme for the salvage, retention and re-
use of the stone setts beneath the archway has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 34



Reason & reason for pre-commencement: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance 
in the interests of visual amenity and in the interests of preserving the significance of the 
Grade II Listed Building in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/14 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Report Author David Allen

________
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

_______________________

Page 35



Application Number: 16/00651/WTTPO    Ward: Bamford      

Proposal: Application to fell T6 Lime within Tree Preservation Order 23

Site Address: Ryefields Bury Road Rochdale OL11 4AU 

Applicant: steve heathcote
                  treelink

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

UPDATE

The Rochdale Planning Sub Committee considered and deferred the application at its meeting 
on Tuesday 2nd August, to allow further advice to be sought in respect of the risk involved in 
refusing consent, in particular whether any loss or damage would be likely to arise. Further 
consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Tree and Woodland Development Officer. 
Members may grant unconditional or conditional consent or may refuse the application for 
consent.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE & PROPOSAL

This application relates to one Lime Tree located in the southern garden area of Ryefield 
House, a large detached dwelling off Bury Road in Rochdale Township. 

The tree is situated between the dwelling and the Roch Valley, and stands behind the rear 
garden boundary of Rivendell, a large detached dwelling accessed off Midgehall Drive.  It is 
requested that the tree be felled as a result of it leaning towards this neighbouring property, 
which is a cause for concern.

Page 36



The tree stands adjacent to Holly tree T7 which would also be felled but this does not form 
part of the TPO and is not therefore a consideration of this application.

The southern garden of the application property is also the site of application 15/01053/FUL 
(Erection of two detached houses, Granted STC November 2015).  The application tree (T6) 
was not affected as a result of these proposals and was identified within that application as 
being retained. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Tree and Woodland Development Officer - 

I met the applicant on site in May.  The holly referred to in the application is not covered by 
TPO023 so no permission is needed to remove this and no reference should be made to it in 
any consent that may be given.  

This group (G5, TPO023) is included within 15/01053/FUL but no consent was given for the 
removal of any trees.  However, following my recent inspection I have no objection to the 
removal of this lime, included in G5 and identified as T6 on the submitted plan.  Although the 
lime is healthy it has a significant lean towards the neighbouring building, which is of concern.   

I would want to see at least two replacement trees planted within the grounds surrounding the 
existing Ryefield House.  Suggested species:
Carpinus betulus (Hornbeam)
Quercus petraea (Sessile oak)
Tilia cordata (Small leaved lime)

In response to the request for information regarding the potential risk involved in refusing 
consent, the Officer has provided the following statement:

Further to my previous comments, the lime tree identified on the submitted plan as T6, is 
growing on a garden area, raised above the adjacent pathway by approximately 1m (see 
attached photo).  Although the lime is healthy without significant defects its pronounced lean 
towards the neighbouring property approximately 10m away is of concern.  Although there is 
no current indication that the tree is likely to fail, if it did so there could be significant damage 
to the property.  

The group G5, which includes the lime T6, is only visible from the immediately adjacent 
properties and not visible from Bury Road.  The loss of this tree is not likely to significantly 
reduce the amenity value of this TPO.

I am concerned that should the Council refuse to consent to remove this tree then it would be 
liable should the tree cause damage and a legal view should be sought on this. 

Page 37



ANALYSIS

In considering applications for works to protected trees, Government advice in paragraph 90 of 
the NPPG advises the local planning authority to:

 assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of the 
proposal on the amenity of the area;

 consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is justified, 
having regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in support of 
it;

 consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused or 
granted subject to conditions;

 consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;

 consider other material considerations, including development plan policies where 
relevant; and

 ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision.
 
In considering whether there has to be an arboricultural need for proposed works to a TPO, 
paragraph 91 of the NPPG states:

“In general terms, it follows that the higher the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the 
greater any negative impact of proposed works on amenity, the stronger the reasons needed 
before consent is granted. However, if the amenity value is lower and the impact is likely to be 
negligible, it may be appropriate to grant consent even if the authority believes there is no 
particular arboricultural need for the work.”

With regard to the above, the main considerations in respect of this application are whether 
the proposal for the felling of the tree is justified in light of the assessment of amenity value of 
the tree and whether the reasons for works are of sufficient standing to warrant the granting of 
consent for felling. 

Although the application was previously deferred, one of the considerations of this application 
with respect to the NPPG is whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused. 

The Council’s Tree and Woodland Development Officer is of the opinion that the proposed 
felling of the Lime tree T6 is justifiable on the grounds of its potentially dangerous lean towards 
the rear of the adjacent property.  Left unchecked, the tree has the potential to cause 
significant loss and damage in the future should it become unstable and topple over towards 
the neighbouring property.  The Officer feels that the loss of this tree is not likely to 
significantly reduce the amenity value of this TPO and is concerned that should the Council 
refuse to consent to remove this tree then it may be liable should the tree cause damage.

Paragraph 90 of the NPPG is clear that decision makers should consider whether any loss or 
damage is likely to arise if consent is refused and ensure appropriate expertise informs its 
decision. The Tree and Woodland Officer has highlighted the potential for damage to occur 
should consent be refused and the Committee is therefore advised to endorse the 
recommendation.

To mitigate the impact on the loss of the amenity value of the tree in the event that the 
Committee agree that it should be felled, the Council’s Tree and Woodland Development 
Officer recommends its replacement with at least two other trees within the grounds 
surrounding the existing Ryefield House of a species to be agreed with the Council. 

Page 38

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/tree-preservation-orders-general/%22%20/l%20%22paragraph_008
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/compensating-for-loss-or-damage/%22%20/l%20%22paragraph_112
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/compensating-for-loss-or-damage/%22%20/l%20%22paragraph_112
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/compensating-for-loss-or-damage/%22%20/l%20%22paragraph_112


Any potential impact on protected species is addressed by the inclusion of Greater 
Manchester Ecology Unit’s standing advice for protection of protected species when carrying 
out works to trees, which would be appended to the decision notice.

The application is considered to be compliant with the guidance contained within the NPPG 
and it is therefore recommended that consent be granted for the felling of this tree.  

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1. The consent hereby granted is valid for a period of two years from the date of this 
decision.

2. Any trees not within the ownership of the applicant require consultation with the tree 
owner prior to the commencement of any on site work.

3. All tree works must comply with British Standard 3998 (2010 – British Standard for Tree 
Work) and the relevant industry codes for safe practice produced by the Forestry & 
Arboriculture Safety & Training Council (FASTCo).

4. The tree works hereby approved shall be carried out by a contractor the identity of whom 
shall be agreed in advance by the Council’s Arboricultural Services.

5. Within the next planting season after the felling of the Lime tree hereby approved, a 
minimum of two replacement trees shall be planted within the site in accordance with 
details that have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  If the replacement trees are removed, die, become severely damaged or 
seriously diseased within three years of planting, they shall be replaced by trees of 
similar size and species.

Report Author Michael Atkinson-Smith

-------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 39


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	3 Submitted Planning Applications

